## Midwifery-led antenatal pelvic floor muscle exercise intervention to reduce postnatal urinary incontinence: APPEAL research programme including a feasibility and pilot cluster RCT

Christine MacArthur,<sup>1\*</sup> Debra Bick,<sup>2</sup> Victoria Salmon,<sup>3</sup> Ellie Jones,<sup>1</sup> Jean Hay-Smith,<sup>4</sup> Jon Bishop,<sup>5</sup> Eleni Gkini,<sup>5</sup> Karla Hemming,<sup>1</sup> Sara Webb,<sup>6</sup> Mark Pearson,<sup>7</sup> Tim Coleman,<sup>8</sup> Rohini Terry,<sup>3</sup> Libby Edwards,<sup>1</sup> Helena Frawley,<sup>9</sup> Eivor Oborn<sup>2</sup> and Sarah Dean<sup>3</sup>

- <sup>1</sup>Institute of Applied Health Research, The Murray Learning Centre, University of Birmingham, Edgbaston, UK
- <sup>2</sup>Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK
- <sup>3</sup>University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, UK
- <sup>4</sup>Rehabilitation Teaching and Research Unit (RTRU), University of Otago, Wellington, New Zealand
- <sup>5</sup>Birmingham Clinical Trials Unit, Institute of Applied Health Research, Public Health Building, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK
- <sup>6</sup>Royal College of Midwives, London, UK
- <sup>7</sup>Wolfson Palliative Care Research Centre, University of Hull, Hull, UK
- <sup>8</sup>Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Nottingham, UK
- <sup>9</sup>Melbourne School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry & Health Sciences, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

\*Corresponding author c.macarthur@bham.ac.uk

Published November 2024 DOI: 10.3310/TJDH7946

# Plain language summary

Midwifery-led antenatal pelvic floor muscle exercise intervention to reduce postnatal urinary incontinence: APPEAL research programme including a feasibility and pilot cluster RCT

Programme Grants for Applied Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 9 DOI: 10.3310/TJDH7946

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

# **Plain language summary**

A fter having a baby, it is very common to leak urine. We know that pelvic floor muscle exercises, when done correctly during pregnancy, can help. The problem is that midwives lack confidence to teach, or do not always explain how to do pelvic floor muscle exercises very well. Even when they do, women may not do them as it is unclear why they should.

By talking to many women, midwives and researchers, we developed a way of training midwives to teach and support women during pregnancy to do these exercises. After their training, we found that midwives knew more about pelvic floor muscle exercises and were more confident to teach and support women.

To test how well the training worked, we did a pilot trial where midwife teams were randomly selected to be given this training or continue with usual antenatal care. We sent a questionnaire to women when their baby was 3 months old. This asked what advice and support their midwife had given them about pelvic floor muscle exercises during pregnancy, whether they did the exercises, and whether they leaked urine over the last 4 weeks.

We found that more women who had antenatal care from a midwife who had been trained were told why and how to do pelvic floor muscle exercises, more of these women did these exercises, and not as many leaked urine. These consistent outcomes are promising, but it was only a pilot trial and not many women returned their questionnaire, so we cannot be certain of these results.

We interviewed some women: most were pleased about getting help with pelvic floor muscle exercises and all wanted this help. We interviewed some of the trained midwives. They were keen to help women but said lack of time meant it could be difficult to fit teaching these exercises into antenatal appointments.

We could not progress to doing a definitive trial because a new National Health Service perinatal pelvic health service is being set up. However, we have provided the training developed in this programme to many of the lead staff who are setting up the new services.

### **Programme Grants for Applied Research**

#### ISSN 2050-4330 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Programme Grants for Applied Research (PGfAR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, Ulrichsweb<sup>™</sup> (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and Scopus<sup>®</sup> (Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands).

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PGfAR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/pgfar.

#### Criteria for inclusion in the Programme Grants for Applied Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Programme Grants for Applied Research* (PGfAR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PGfAR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

#### **Programme Grants for Applied Research programme**

The Programme Grants for Applied Research (PGfAR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), was established in 2006 to fund collaborative, multidisciplinary programmes of applied research to solve health and social care challenges. Findings are expected to provide evidence that lead to clear and identifiable patient benefits, in the relatively near future.

PGfAR is researcher led and does not specify topics for research; however, the research must be in an area of priority or need for the NHS and the social care sector of the Department of Health and Social Care, with particular emphasis on health and social care areas that cause significant burden, where other research funders may not be focused, or where insufficient funding is available.

The programme is managed by the NIHR Central Commissioning Facility (CCF) with strategic input from the Programme Director. For more information about the PGfAR programme please visit the website: https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/programme-grants-for-applied-research.htm

#### This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by PGfAR as award number RP-PG-0514-20002. The contractual start date was in March 2016. The draft manuscript began editorial review in December 2022 and was accepted for publication in May 2024. As the funder, the PGfAR programme agreed the research questions and study designs in advance with the investigators. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PGfAR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, CCF, PGfAR or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the PGfAR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 MacArthur *et al.* This work was produced by MacArthur *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).